STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Teasa Kay Weaver

Circuit Case No. 2023-CP-46-01467
Appellate Case No. 2025-002054

RECEIVED

Aug 04 2026

SC Court of Appeals

Midway Baptist Church of York,

Respondent,

v.

County of York,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Brian A. Autry, SC Bar No.: 69401
W. Jacob Henerey, SC Bar No.: 102268
KENISON, DUDLEY & CRAWFORD, LLC
325 W. McBee Ave., Suite 301
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 242-4899
autry@conlaw.com
henerey@conlaw.com

Laura Dover, SC Bar No.: 101521
COUNTY OF YORK
Interim County Attorney
26 West Liberty Street
P.O. Drawer 299
York, South Carolina 29745
(803) 684-4851

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Appellant properly classified Respondent's operation of a K-12 school as an educational occupancy of Respondent's property.
2. The circuit court erred by ruling that the building code allowed Respondent to operate a K-12 school as an accessory to religious worship.
3. The circuit court erred by not deferring to Appellant's interpretation of the building code and by relying on the content of instruction to find that Appellant's interpretation of the building code was arbitrary and capricious.

INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2021, Midway Baptist Church of York (“Midway” or “Respondent”) began discussions with the County of York (the “County” or “Appellant”) about Midway’s proposed operation of a school on church property. The County denied Midway’s proposal on three separate occasions in 2022—May 10, May 25, and June 8—after concluding that the property did not meet the building or fire code requirements applicable to structures, or portions thereof, to be used for K-12 education.

On May 11, 2023, Midway filed a complaint seeking a declaratory judgment that it could operate a school under its current usage classification without making any changes to its property. The County answered on July 3, 2023, denying the allegations and asserting the defenses of res judicata and failure to exhaust administrative remedies based on Respondent’s failure to timely challenge the County’s occupancy classification.

The matter was referred to the master-in-equity for York County on April 24, 2024, and a bench trial was held on December 12, 2024. The court entered judgment in favor of Respondent on June 25, 2025, declaring that Midway could operate the school on its property and under its existing assembly occupancy.

The County filed a motion to reconsider on July 7, 2025. By order filed on September 8, 2025, the court amended its previous conclusions, made additional findings, and denied the County’s motion to reconsider.

The County filed a notice of appeal on October 6, 2025. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Midway is a church located in the western part of York County. Midway's campus includes three buildings: a sanctuary, a fellowship hall, and a Sunday School building/chapel (the "Sunday School Building").

In 2021, Midway decided to establish a private K-12 school that would become known as Midway Christian Academy (the "Academy"). Midway proposed operating the Academy out of the Sunday School Building and sought approval from the County to do so.

The Sunday School Building is currently classified for an Assembly Group A occupancy (specifically, A-3) under the building code.¹ Use of a structure for education through the twelfth grade requires an Educational Group E classification under the building code. The County determined that the operation of the Academy in the Sunday School Building would constitute a change in usage and that the Sunday School Building did not meet the requirements of the new usage classification under the building or fire code. Therefore, the County denied Midway's application. Unable to use the Sunday School Building, the Academy began operations in 2022 in adjacent Cherokee County.

Midway argues that the Academy can operate as an accessory use to the Sunday School Building's Group A occupancy without being reclassified as a Group E occupancy. The County disagrees and maintains that Respondent is attempting to convert a *carveout* intended for an *ancillary* use of a building into an *exception* for a separate *primary* use.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A declaratory judgment action is inherently "neither legal nor equitable." *Davis v. S.C.*

¹ For ease of reference, the applicable portions of the building code are attached as exhibits to this brief. (See *infra* pp.5–6.)

Educ. Credit for Exceptional Needs Child. Fund, 441 S.C. 187, 197, 893 S.E.2d 330, 336 (Ct. App. 2023) (citation omitted). The standard of review on appeal therefore depends on “the nature of the underlying issue.” *Id.* (citation omitted).

The interpretation of a regulation “is a question of law to be determined by the court.” *S.C. Dep’t of Revenue v. Blue Moon of Newberry, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 256, 260, 725 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2012) (citation omitted). The appellate court reviews questions of law de novo, *id.*, and without deference to the lower court, *Davis*, 441 S.C. at 198, 893 S.E.2d at 336.

This appeal stems from the lower court’s interpretation of building codes, i.e., regulations. Therefore, the Court is free to correct the lower court’s errors without deference to that court’s opinion. Moreover, to the extent the parties seek injunctive relief, those claims arise in equity and “the appellate court may review the record and make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of a preponderance of the evidence.” *Davis*, 441 S.C. at 198, 893 S.E.2d at 336 (citation omitted).

ARGUMENTS

This case hinges on how to appropriately interpret specific provisions of the building code related to the operation of a religious school.² The lower court erred by concluding that the South Carolina Building Code (the “SCBC”) automatically allows buildings used for religious services to operate as K-12 schools without modification. On reconsideration, the court (1) clarified that the exception applied so long as the building or rooms were used for “religious education” and (2) found that K-12 instruction incorporating religious beliefs and activities qualified as religious education.

² Inherent to that discussion is consideration of the extent to which the General Assembly intended to exempt schools with a religious-based curriculum from complying with generally applicable safety requirements for the operation of a school.

In so ruling, the court ignored the context of the SCBC, viewed individual sections of the SCBC in isolation, and placed undue emphasis on what was being *taught*—the *content* of the instruction—as opposed to what was being *done*—the operation of a school. The court also failed to give proper deference to the County’s interpretation of the building codes it has been tasked with enforcing. These errors turned the SCBC on its head, allowing an “exception” for accessory religious instruction to swallow the “rule” for educational facilities.

I. The County Properly Classified the Occupancy

It is South Carolina’s public policy “to maintain reasonable standards of construction in buildings and other structures in the State consistent with the public health, safety, and welfare of its citizens.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-5(A). The General Assembly has tasked the South Carolina Building Codes Council (the “Council”) with furthering this policy. *See id.* The Council is empowered to adopt (and amend) codes promulgated by the International Code Council, Inc., such as the International Building Code (the “IBC”). *Id.* §§ 6-9-40(A), -50(A). Local jurisdictions, such as the County, are required to enforce these codes. *Id.* § 6-9-10(A); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 8-236; *see also Donevant v. Town of Surfside Beach*, 422 S.C. 264, 266, 811 S.E.2d 744, 745 (2018) (noting that a town building official “was charged by State and local law to carry out this policy”). The current SCBC is based on the 2021 IBC. *See* S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 8-800.

This case revolves around provisions found largely in chapter 3 of the SCBC, entitled “Occupancy Classification and Use.” 2021 SCBC Preface at xii, attached hereto as **Exhibit A**. As the preface to the SCBC notes, chapter 3 classifies buildings “based on the *purpose* or *purposes* for which they are used.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The goal is to classify structures to “provid[e] a reasonable level of protection or life safety for building occupants,” taking into account factors such as “the level of fire hazard associated with the specific occupancy” and “the type of

construction used for the building.” *Id.* at xiii. The classification determines “appropriate protection measures” and “threshold requirements for fire protection and means of egress systems.” *Id.*; *see also* SCBC § 301.1 (“Different classifications of occupancy and use represent varying levels of hazard and risk to building occupants and adjacent properties.”), attached hereto as **Exhibit B**.

Common sense recognizes that buildings are frequently used for different purposes at different times. Intuitively, society also recognizes that different rules may therefore apply to a building depending on the particular purpose for which it is being used at any given time. The SCBC puts this recognition into words, stating that as “the activities in [a] building . . . evolve and change” it can result in “a change of occupancy” requiring compliance with new provisions. SCBC Preface at xiii.

A building’s classification refers to the “designation of *the primary purpose* of the building, structure or portion thereof” and is “based on the nature of the hazards and risks to building occupants generally associated with *the intended purpose* of the building or structure.” SCBC § 302.1 (emphasis added). When a structure is “occupied at *different times* for *different purposes*,” it must “comply with *all* applicable requirements associated with such potential multipurpose.” *Id.* (emphasis added). This acknowledges that the same physical space may need to satisfy different requirements at different times, depending on *how* the space is used.

Whereas section 302 addresses the use of a structure at different *times*, section 508 concerns the use of different *parts* of a structure. (*See* R. p. 37 (SCBC § 508.1 (“Each *portion* of a building” (emphasis added)))).) Like section 302, section 508 requires each portion to be classified individually, according to its specific use. (*Id.*) This includes “[a]ccessory occupancies,” which “are those occupancies that are ancillary to the main occupancy of the

building or portion thereof.” (R. p. 37 (*Id.* § 508.2); (*see id.* § 508.2.1 (“Accessory occupancies shall be individually classified in accordance with [SCBC section] 302.1. The requirements of this code shall apply to each *portion* of the building based on the occupancy classification of that *space*.” (emphasis added))).) The importance of being an accessory occupancy is simply that there need not be any physical separation between it and the main occupancy. (R. p. 37 (*Id.* § 508.2.4).)

Respondent’s use of church property for worship services and related functions is properly classified under Assembly Group A-3. *See* SCBC § 303.4; (R. p. 8 (Order at 2).) That classification is not in dispute. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 59 (Mot. Reconsider at 3).) This controversy emanates from a portion of the structure being used for purposes of operating a school, which the County found required an Educational Group E classification. *See* SCBC § 305.1; (R. p. 60 (Mot. Reconsider at 4).) The County’s determination is consistent with the plain language of the SCBC, furthers the goals of the SCBC, and takes into account the relationship between various code provisions.

The County’s decision reflects two key concepts discussed above: (1) use classification is based on a structure’s *primary use*, and (2) a single property can have multiple classifications over time. Applying these principles, the County correctly determined that operation of the Academy constituted a separate, primary use of that building and classified it accordingly.

The SCBC requires a building, “or a portion thereof,” to be classified Educational Group E when it is used “by six or more persons at any one time for educational purposes through the 12th grade.” SCBC § 305.1. Respondent does not dispute that the Academy satisfies that criteria. (*See* R. p. 121, lines 14–16 (Trial Tr. 31:14–16 (stating that the Academy has twenty-five students)); R. p. 141, lines 15–17 (*id.* 51:15–17 (describing the Academy’s curriculum as including every subject from kindergarten through twelfth grade))).)

The evidence also demonstrated that K-12 education would be the primary purpose of that portion of the building where the school was being operated. The Academy would function in the ordinary manner that other schools operate, including a typical school year with a summer break. (See R. p. 133, line 22–p. 134, line 3 (*id.* 43:22–44:3).) Students would arrive around 7:00 or 8:00 in the morning and stay until at least 2:45 in the afternoon. (R. p. 133, lines 2–4, 18–21 (*Id.* 43:2–4, 43:18–21).) Students would go to class, eat lunch, and have recess on the property. (See R. p. 154, line 16–p. 155, line 7; R. p. 155, lines 11–14; R. p. 156, lines 8–10 (*id.* 64:16–65:7, 65:11–14, 66:8–10).) Moreover, testimony confirmed that, aside from the Academy’s school operations, the property would otherwise be largely unused during that time. (R. p. 130, lines 9–15 (*Id.* 40:9–15).) Finally, like other schools, the Academy’s operation would indicate the presence of many more students, i.e., children, than adults. (See R. p. 121, lines 14–16 (*id.* 31:14–16 (testifying that the Academy had twenty-five students and planned on serving “[s]omewhere less than 100”)); R. p. 133, lines 5–6 (*id.* 43:5–6 (testifying that the Academy had three teachers))). Therefore, the County determined that the primary purpose of *the Academy’s* occupancy was educational and required a Group E classification. See SCBC §§ 302.1, 305.1.

II. The Lower Court Misinterpreted the Building Code

However, Respondent argued—and the lower court found—two provisions within the SCBC allowed the Academy to operate as an accessory to religious worship. The first provision, in section 303, states that “religious educational rooms and religious auditoriums” that are “[a]ccessory to places of religious worship” are not considered a separate occupancy so long as they stay under a certain occupancy limit. SCBC § 303.1.4 (emphasis added). The second carveout the trial court relied on is found in section 305 and clarifies the scope of the Group E classification. See SCBC § 305.1.1. The trial court invented and applied a three-prong test based

on these provisions to determine whether the Academy's use qualified for an A-3 classification. (*See* R. pp. 11–12 (Order at 5–6).) The court found that the Academy could operate under that classification if Respondent established “(1) religious educational room[s]; (2) accessory to a place of religious worship; with an (3) occupant load of less than 100 persons per room.” (R. p. 17 (Order on Mot. Reconsider at 2).)

The lower court overstated the significance of these “exceptions.” In so doing, the court violated basic rules of construction.

“A statute should not be construed by concentrating on an isolated phrase.” *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper County*, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006). The same goes for regulations, which “are construed using the same canons of construction as statutes” and “must be construed as a whole rather than read in its component parts in isolation.” *Blue Moon of Newberry, Inc.*, 397 S.C. at 261, 725 S.E.2d at 483. However, if a “statute’s language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear, definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” *Storm M.H. v. Charleston Cty. Bd. of Trs.*, 400 S.C. 478, 488, 735 S.E.2d 492, 498 (2012).

To begin with, the lower court placed undue emphasis on two terms that are italicized in the SCBC: “occupant load” and “places of religious worship.” (R. p. 11 (Order at 5 (citing SCBC § 305.1.1))).) The court stated that because these terms were italicized, they were “the key characteristics” to determining whether section 305.1.1 allowed the Academy to operate with a Group A-3 classification. (*Id.*) However, this significance is not supported by the SCBC, which states that terms are italicized not to demonstrate importance, but to indicate that they are defined elsewhere in the building code. *See* SCBC Preface at viii. This misunderstanding led the lower

court to focus on whether the property was “intended for the performance of religious services”³ and designed for the exit of fewer than 100 people,⁴ (*see* R. pp. 11–12 (Order at 5–6)), when the court should have focused on the *purpose* for which the property was to be *used*. *See* SCBC § 302.1.

The court also failed to view these provisions in their proper context within the SCBC. Section 303.1.4 clarifies that applicable “religious educational rooms and religious auditoriums” used *in conjunction with* a place of religious worship do not constitute a separate “primary purpose” and are covered under the Assembly Group classification of the larger structure.⁵ *See id.* §§ 302.1, 303.1.4. Section 305.1.1 is a corollary to this provision and applies only if the structure *first* satisfies section 303.1.4. *See id.* § 305.1.1. It merely confirms that when a structure is serving an *accessory purpose* under section 303.1.4, it can continue to operate with a Group A-3 classification. *Id.* § 305.1.1 (citing *id.* § 303.1.4). In other words, the exception in section 305.1.1 applies *only* if the structure satisfies 303.1.4 *and* is functioning as an accessory to a place of worship in that moment. *See id.* §§ 303.1.4, 305.1.1. Section 305.1.1 is not a standalone exception that can convert an accessory into a primary use. *See id.* § 302.1.

III. The Court Should Have Deferred to the County’s Determination

The court also erred by failing to give appropriate deference to the County’s determination, as the County has been tasked with interpreting and implementing the SCBC within its jurisdiction.

³ (Resp’t’s Initial Br. at 27 (SCBC § 202 (“religious worship, place of”)).)

⁴ (Resp’t’s Initial Br. at 25 (SCBC § 202 (“occupant load”))); *see* SCBC § 202 (“means of egress”).

⁵ Similarly, a room used *for* assembly purposes that is affiliated with an *Educational Group* occupancy does not constitute a separate occupancy and can operate under that Group E classification. SCBC § 303.1.3.

Courts typically defer to the agencies tasked with enforcing their own regulations “because they have unique skill and expertise” in doing so. *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 34, 766 S.E.2d 707, 718 (2014). Therefore, courts should defer to an agency’s interpretation of “the statutes entrusted to its administration or its own regulations unless there is a compelling reason to differ,” such as the interpretation being “arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute [or regulation].” *Id.* at 34–35, 766 S.E.2d at 718 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). An arbitrary decision is one “without a rational basis, . . . based alone on one’s will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, . . . made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or . . . governed by no fixed rules or standards.” *Deese v. S.C. State Bd. of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 184–85, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct. App. 1985). As the evidence adduced at trial reveals, the County’s determination is anything but arbitrary and capricious.

A. There Is a Reasonable Basis for the County’s Decision

In ruling on Appellant’s motion to reconsider, the court amended its previous ruling to defer to the County’s definition of “accessory to a place of religious worship”⁶ and “religious educational room.”⁷ (R. p. 18 (Order on Mot. Reconsider at 3).) However, the court disagreed with how the County applied those definitions and found the County’s decisions arbitrary and capricious. (R. p. 19 (*Id.* at 4).) This was error. The County’s interpretation of the building code is reasonable and consistent with both the plain meaning of the text and the underlying purpose of the code.

⁶ “[A]ccessory to a place of religious worship means associated with the principle [sic] use of the church, functions of the church, or church purpose.” (R. p. 18 (Order on Mot. Reconsider at 3).)

⁷ “[A] religious educational room is synonymous with religious education or a room used for that purpose.” (*Id.*)

Ample evidence supports the County’s conclusion that the Academy’s use of church property for daily K-12 education was not an accessory use of a place of religious worship as contemplated by the SCBC. “Accessory uses are those which are customarily incident to the principal use.” *Whaley v. Dorchester Cty. Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 337 S.C. 568, 579, 524 S.E.2d 404, 410 (1999). They “must be clearly incidental to, and customarily found in connection with, the principal use.” *Id.* (citation omitted). Moreover, the “use must be one so necessary or commonly to be expected that it cannot be supposed that the ordinance was intended to prevent it.” *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); (*see also* R. p. 217, lines 20–24 (Trial Tr. 127:20–24 (describing an ancillary use as one “that is necessary for the principal occupancy to properly function”))).

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