THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Aug 04 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Master-in-Equity

Teasa K. Weaver, Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002054

Midway Baptist Church of York,

Respondent

v.

County of York,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

s/Emily N. Brown
SC Bar # 101131
emily@emilybrownlaw.com
Emily Brown Law LLC
Post Office Box 38113
Rock Hill, South Carolina 29732
(803) 973-0490
emily@emilybrownlaw.com
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The Court should affirm the ruling of the court because Appellant failed to properly classify the Academy's occupancy by refusing to apply the plain language of the SC Building Code exception for religious educational rooms that were accessory to places of religious worship. The court did not err in holding the rooms used by the Academy were religious education rooms accessory to places of religious worship. While the court erred in its Amended Order by delving into the definition of religious education in violation of the Establishment Clause, the court did not err in ultimately affirming its original decision and holding Appellant's definition of religious educational rooms was arbitrary, capricious, and not worth of deference. Additionally, the Court should affirm the ruling of the court because Appellant's interpretation of the building code substantially burdens Midway's free exercise of its religion and violates the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act.

I. Appellant improperly classified Midway's building when it refused to apply the plain reading of the building code exception requiring classification of religious educational classrooms accessory to a place of religious worship with an occupancy of fewer than 100 as assembly occupancy.

Currently, Midway's buildings are classified as assembly occupancy A-3 in compliance with SC Building Code § 303.4. Midway does not dispute that the SCBC generally requires an educational occupancy classification for "the use of a building ... of portion thereof, by six or more persons at any one time for educational purposes through the 12th grade." SC Building Code §

305.1. However, in the next sentence, the building code provides an exception to this general requirement that Appellant failed to properly interpret and refused to apply to Midway. The exception states, "Religious educational rooms ..., which are accessory to *places of religious worship* in accordance with SCBC § 303.1.4 and have *occupant loads* of less than 100 per room or space, shall be classified as Group A-3 occupancies." SC Building Code § 305.1.¹ In SCBC § 303, the building code clarifies "accessory religious educational rooms ... are not considered separate occupancies" from the assembly classification from the place of religious worship. SC Building Code § 303.1.4.

"Regulations are interpreted using the same rules of construction as statutes." *Blackmon v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 441 S.C. 342, 353, 893 S.E.2d 578 (Ct. App. 2022). When interpreting a regulation, one must consider the plain, ordinary meaning of the words. *Id.* Additionally, when the regulation contains both a general and specific provision on the same issue, the more specific provision prevails. *Mikell v. County of Charleston*, 386 S.C. 153, 160, 687 S.E.2d 326, 330 (2009).

Appellant improperly classified Midway's building because it sought to apply only SC Building Code § 305.1 and ignore § 305.1.1. However, proper classification requires reading and applying all portions of the building code, not just the portions Appellant wants to apply. Furthermore, SCBC § 305.1.1 specifies that religious educational rooms accessory to places of religious worship are not classified as educational occupancies. They are classified as assembly occupancies. Therefore, the building code does not require Appellant to apply a mixed-use

¹ Respondent attached relevant sections of the 2021 South Carolina Building Code omitted by Appellant in its brief. Where Respondent refers to sections not attached, it consents to the use of the sections attached to Appellant's initial brief.

occupancy classification to Midway's building for the Academy. The building code classifies the rooms as A-3.

Appellant claims the mixed used occupancy requirements of SC Building Code § 508 only relieve separation requirements between occupancies. In fact, SCBC § 508 includes other requirements, such as limits on the floor area an accessory occupancy may occupy. SC Building Code § 508.2. But as written, building code SCBC §§ 305.1.1 and 303.1.4 require classifying religious educational rooms the same occupancy classification as the place of religious worship to which they are ancillary.

Additionally, Appellant claims religious educational rooms apply only to rooms where Midway teaches Bible studies or Sunday school. However, that interpretation ignores the basic definition of educational occupancy, which applies to rooms of six or more students in grades K-12. S.C. Building Code § 305.1. Appellant admits Midway may teach any topics to any ages of people without limitation of time or use in the existing building classified as A-3. (R. p. 216, line 24 - p. 217, line 19; R. p. 219, lines 12-17; R. p. 247, lines 13-18) Therefore, unless SCBC § 305 applies to all students receiving education meeting the South Carolina requirements, including religious education meeting the South Carolina requirements, then then the exception in 305.1.1 is meaningless and inapplicable. As the circuit court stated, "If the intent was to require that all K-12th grade instruction of more than 6 students be classified as Group E, there would be no subsection 305.1.1." (R. p. 12) Therefore, by refusing to apply SCBC §§ 305.1.1 and 303.1.4 to the Academy, Appellant failed to properly interpret the building code or classify Midway's Sunday School Building.

II. The circuit court did not err when it ruled that the rooms used by Respondent's school qualified as religious education rooms accessory to a place of religious worship and therefore qualified for classification as assembly occupancy rather than educational occupancy.

When considered together, the two orders from the circuit court comprehensively and correctly interpret SCBC § 305.1.1. As cited above, South Carolina law requires interpreting regulations using the same canons of construction as statutes. Regulations must be interpreted within context and according to the plain, ordinary meaning of words not specifically defined within the regulation.

To meet the exception in SCBC § 305.1.1, Midway's building must meet certain requirements. First, as Appellant admitted at trial, Midway must use the building for educational purposes that meet the South Carolina education requirements for K-12 students for § 305 to apply. (R. p. 209, lines 1-9 and 17-20; R. p. 213, line 25 - p. 214, line 16; R. p. 228, line 19 - p. 230, line 9) Then, to qualify as A-3 occupancy under § 305.1.1, Midway must have a religious educational room, which is accessory to a place of religious worship that meets the requirements of Section 303.1.4 and has an occupant load of less than 100 per room or space. Midway testified and Appellant did not dispute that Midway's occupant load for the Academy is less than 100 students. Therefore, we must consider whether Midway's building is a religious educational room that is accessory to a place of religious worship within the requirements of SCBC § 303.1.4.

As the court determined in its Amended Order, interpreting a regulation requires a two-step process where the court first examines the code to determine if it directly addresses the issue. If so, the court must apply the plain meaning of the code. If the code is silent or ambiguous on an issue, then the court will defer to an agency's interpretation unless that interpretation is "arbitrary,

capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute [or regulation]." *Doe v. Keel*, 440 S.C. 427, 431, 892 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2023).

The building code defines a place of religious worship as "[a] building or portion thereof intended for the performance of religious services." SC Building Code § 202. In its brief, Appellant claims the court erred by using this definition. However, the court cited the definition directly from the building code, and as Appellant pointed out, the court may not change a definition or impose another definition. *Storm M.H. v. Charleston Cty. Bd. of Trs.*, 400 S.C. 478, 488, 735 S.E.2d 492, 498 (2012). Testimony of Appellant and Midway support that Midway currently uses the Sunday School Building for religious worship, and Midway testified that they intended to continue using the building for religious worship. Therefore, the Sunday School building is a place of religious worship.

The building code defines an accessory occupancy as one ancillary to the main occupancy of the building or a portion thereof. SC Building Code §508.2. In its testimony, Appellant admitted the classrooms in the Sunday School Building are currently ancillary to the main occupancy, which is a place of religious worship because Midway uses those classrooms to teach Bible studies, Sunday school, and host events associated with teaching and practicing their religion. Therefore, Appellant admitted the rooms, when used to teach religion, qualify as an accessory occupancy to a place of worship under SCBC § 303.1.4, and the court deferred to Appellant's definition of accessory occupancy.

At trial, Appellant claimed those rooms qualify as religious educational rooms unless Midway begins teaching material that qualifies for academic education credit. (R. p. 215, line - p. 216, line 23; R. p. 228, line 13 - p. 229, line 24; R. p. 246, line 17 - p. 247, line 12) So, the dispute centers on the definition of religious educational rooms. The building code does not define

religious educational room or religious education. However, James William Catoe, III, Appellant's Building Official tasked by law with interpreting the building code, admitted Midway's Sunday school building is currently classified as A-3 because "[i]t's religious education." S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-30; York County Code §§ 150.50 and 150.51. (R. p. 226, line 2 - p. 227, line 1; R. p. 229, lines 3-12; R. p. 468) Mr. Catoe then testified that the Academy "is a K through 12 school with a religious-based curriculum." (R. p. 231, lines 2-20) He also testified that it did not qualify as religious education, but it was "education with ... religious values applied." (R. p. 231, lines 16-17) Furthermore, Deputy Building Official Jennifer Culver claimed the Academy did not qualify as religious education because it was teaching and then stated that religious education could include teaching. (R. p. 215, line 22 - p. 216, line 1; R. p. 219, line 21 - p. 220, line 14) As the court determined in its order, Appellant defined religious education as a means to interpret religious educational room. However, Appellant's definition excluded what it admitted was a form of religious education. (R. p. 18-19) Therefore, Appellant's interpretation made no sense, and the court concluded it was arbitrary, capricious and not worthy of deference. (R. p. 19) Because Appellant admitted Midway would qualify for the exception in SCBC § 305.1.1 if the Sunday School Building qualified as religious educational room and because Appellant admitted Midway and its Academy used the rooms for religious education, the court properly interpreted the regulation and concluded the rooms qualified as religious educational rooms, regardless of whether the material taught satisfied academic education requirements. Therefore, the Academy met all elements for the exception in SCBC § 305.1.1.

III. While the circuit court erred in its analysis, it did not err when it held Appellant failed to properly interpret religious educational rooms and found Appellant's decision to ignore the written exception for religious educational rooms arbitrary and capricious.

A. The circuit court did not err when it held Appellant failed to properly interpret religious educational rooms and found Appellant's failure to properly classify Midway's rooms designated for Academy use as arbitrary, capricious, and not worthy of deference.

In the Amended Order, the circuit court found Appellant reasonably interpreted accessory to a place of religious worship as "associated with the principal use of the church, functions of the church, or church purpose." Then, the court held Appellant erred by not classifying the Academy as an accessory use because Appellant failed to interpret religious educational rooms. Instead, Appellant repeatedly interpreted religious education and determined what type of education was or was not included within the meaning of religious education. Building Official James Catoe testified that the Academy taught education with religious values. However, he then determined that religious educational rooms did not include that type of instruction because the instruction also qualified for academic educational requirements. Appellant, not the court, used content to interpret religious education and apply that to religious educational rooms.

Based on Catoe's own testimony, a church could never teach anything that qualified for State educational requirements in its religious educational rooms, regardless of how much religion was incorporated. Additionally, he admitted Section 305 did not apply at all unless the teaching met State educational requirements. Yet, he claimed the exception in 305.1.1 applying to religious educational rooms somehow did not apply to rooms where the teaching qualified for State

educational requirements. As the court determined, "This makes no sense and provides no basis for his or Culver's decision to distinguish Plaintiff's Sunday school or Bible study from the Academy."

Appellant seeks to use the testimony of Fire Marshall Donnie Helms as a basis to support Catoe's interpretation. However, Helms also ignored the exception and analyzed the interpretation by attempting to determine which portions of the fire code he thought should apply to determine the classification. But Helms' analysis reverses the analysis required by the building code. The Building Official must determine the classification, and the classification then determines the requirements under the building code and fire code. Furthermore, despite Helms' testimony about the intent to apply religious educational rooms to instruction or functions for limited duration or certain days of the week, both he and Culver admitted neither the building code nor the fire code limits the ages of the occupants or duration of time for any use in A-3. In fact, Helms sought to impose some common meeting times specific to a certain religion but could not apply his definition to other religions.

In its brief, Appellant asks how much and what type of religion would qualify for religious educational rooms. That poses an interesting question since Appellant formulated a definition and criteria it could not apply to all religions. Rather than reading and applying the SC Building Code as written, Appellant decided to ignore the exception and not apply it to any religious educational room where the instruction simultaneously fulfilled religious education and academic educational requirements. By interpreting the building code to ignore the entire exception and determine it did not apply to the Academy, Appellant's interpretation was arbitrary, capricious, and not worthy of deference.

B. By seeking to ignore the plain meaning of the exception, delving into the Academy's religious teaching, and refusing to apply the exception to the Academy because its instruction qualified as religious instruction and academic credit, Appellant violated the Establishment Clause.

In its Order, the court did not delve into whether Midway's curriculum qualified as religious education. The court found the exception limited to rooms or auditoriums associated with a place of religious worship, and the exception did not require Appellant "to delve into whether the curriculum, activity or function sufficiently includes religious teachings, worship, service or practice." (R. p. 12). In the Amended Order, the court examined Appellant's failure to define or interpret religious educational rooms and rejected Appellant's interpretation that religious education did not include academic education even if it taught religion. The court erred by delving into the Academy's religious teachings, but it did not err in ultimately holding Appellant's refusal include religious teachings qualifying for academic credit in the definition of religious education as arbitrary, capricious, and not worthy of deference. In its brief, Appellant asks this Court to adopt a "content-neutral" interpretation that excludes any determination of religious education. Adopting such an interpretation would violate the Establishment Clause and established United States Supreme Court precedent for interpreting and applying exceptions within regulations that apply to religion.

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